
 

The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

  
  
  
  

AGENDA  
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
BRESNAN MEETING CENTER  

706 Kenwood Road   
Champaign, Illinois  

Wednesday, September 11, 2024  
5:30 p.m.  

 
Citizens may livestream or listen to the Public Hearing and/or Regular Board meeting by accessing the 
following web address or phone number: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85889942842?pwd=TWdrNXUxS3NpbURPdmgrd2xpMHBVUT09  
Public comment is not available through online video or telephone conference at this time. For those who 
are interested in sharing public comment, please join the meetings in-person at the address, time, and date 
listed above. Pursuant to Board policy, a recording of this meeting will be posted online and linked at the 
Champaign Park District website for thirty (30) days and then removed. 
  
For online video access, please use the following Meeting ID and Password when prompted: 
Meeting ID: 869 4997 3253 
Passcode: 123607 
  
Alternatively, the meeting may be accessed by telephone at: 
1-312-626-6799, If prompted for the following items, please enter:  
Meeting ID: 869 4997 3253, followed by the # symbol 
Password: 123607, followed by the # symbol 

  
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  

  
A. CALL TO ORDER  

  
B. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
Public comments are important to the Board. However, it is the Board’s policy not to take 

action on items until time has been taken to gather and evaluate information, as well as 

discuss available options. The absence of an immediate response does not indicate a lack 

of interest in the matter. During the community input portion of the agenda, the Board may 

typically ask residents to provide input before nonresidents. 

The purpose of public participation is to allow the public to address and inform the Board. 

Please remember that the Board has a limited time to hear from citizens while also efficiently 

conducting park district business. After an individual has spoken, that individual may not 

address the same issue again. Any limitation about addressing the board may be waived by 

it. Planned agenda presentations may, within the Board’s discretion, exceed certain time 

limits. 

Public comments are limited to not more than three (3) minutes. 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85889942842?pwd=TWdrNXUxS3NpbURPdmgrd2xpMHBVUT09


 

The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
September 11, 2024  
Page 2  
 

C. COMMUNICATIONS  
  
D. TREASURER’S REPORT  

1. Consideration of Acceptance of the Treasurer’s Report for the Month of August 
2024.  

 
E. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT  

1. General Announcements  
 
F. COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 

1. Champaign Parks Foundation  
  
G. REPORT OF OFFICERS  
  

1. Attorney’s Report  
2. President’s Report  
  

H. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

All items appearing below are considered routine by the Board and shall be enacted by 
one motion. If discussion is desired, that item shall be removed and discussed sepa-
rately. (Roll Call Vote)  

  
1. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting, August 14, 2024  
2. Approval of Minutes of the Special Board Meeting, August 28, 2024  

 
I. NEW BUSINESS  

 
1. Approval of Disbursements   

Staff recommends approval of disbursements for the period beginning August 15, 
2024 and ending September 11, 2024. (Roll Call Vote)  

 
2. Approval of a Resolution Initiating the 2024 General Obligation Bond Issue  

Staff recommend approval of a resolution stating the Park District’s need and intent 
to issue $1,335,000 of General Obligation Bonds for FY 2024/25.   

 
3. Approval of a Resolution Setting a Public Hearing on Proposed Bond Issue  

Staff recommend approval of a resolution to set a Public Hearing for Wednesday, 
October 9, 2024, at 5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center, to discuss the issu-
ance of $1,335,000 of  
General Obligation Bonds.   

 
 

 



 

The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
September 11, 2024  
Page 3  

 
4. Approval of the Bid for General Concrete- for Sunset Ridge Park Entry Drive 

Staff recommends awarding the total bid amount to the low, responsive bidder, Duce 

Construction Company, Champaign IL, in the amount of $52,775 and requests the 

Park Board to authorize the Executive Director to enter into a contractual agreement 

for this work. 

5. Approval of the Bids for the John St. Pickleball & Dexter Field Lighting Project 
Staff recommends awarding the total bid amount, for both locations, to the low, 

responsive bidder, Barton Electric, Trenton IL, in the amount of $380,000 and 

requests the Board to authorize the Executive Director to enter into a contractual 

agreement for this work. 

6. Approval of Bid for Liquor License at Virginia Theatre 
Staff recommends the Park Board authorizes the Executive Director to enter into an 
agreement with Carbri, Inc., (dba) Farren's Pub & Eatery for alcoholic beverage 
service, including wine, beer, and spirits, at the Virginia Theatre for a one-year period 
beginning September 13, 2024, to September 12, 2025. 

 
7. Approval of Bid for Janitorial Services at the Virginia Theatre 

Staff recommends that the Park Board authorize the Executive Director to execute 

an agreement with the low, responsible bidder, RamClean 2 Cleaning Services, 

Champaign, to provide janitorial services at the Virginia Theater for a term of one (1) 

year, with the option to renew for one (1) additional year. 

 
 

J. COMMENTS FROM COMMISSIONERS  
   
K. RETURN TO REGULAR MEETING  
  
L. ADJOURN  



 

 Minutes of the August 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Page  1 

 

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS 
August 14, 2024 

 

Public Hearing and Regular Board Meeting 
 

The Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners held a Public Hearing and a Regular 
Meeting on Wednesday, August 14, 2024, at 5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 
Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois, pursuant to published notice duly given. President Hays 
presided over the hearing.  
 
Present in-person: President Craig W. Hays, Vice President Timothy P. McMahon, 
Commissioners Barbara J. Kuhl, Jane L. Solon, and Michael R. Somers, Treasurer Donna 
Lawson, Executive Director, Sarah Sandquist, Secretary and Deputy Executive Director, Jarrod 
Scheunemann, and Attorney, Guy Hall.  
 
Staff present in-person: Courtney Kouzmanoff, Director of Finance, Dan Olson, Director of 
Operations and Planning, Jimmy Gleason, Director of Facilities & Technology, Steven Bentz, 
Director of the Virginia Theatre, Jeannie Robinson, Director of Recreation, Heather Miller, 
Director of Human Resources, Joe Kearfott, Assistant Director of Facilities and Technology, 
Chelsea Norton, Director of Marketing & Development, Mitchell Fransen, Park Planner, and 
Marguerite Bailey, Administrative Project Manager. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
President Hays called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 
B. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
None 

C. ORDINANCE NO. 682, BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 

President Hays addressed all parties at the board meeting explaining the purpose of the public 
hearing, he confirmed that a "Notice of Public Hearing on the Budget and Appropriation 
Amendment Ordinance" was published in the News-Gazette on Sunday, July 28, 2024, and 
copies of the proposed Budget Amendment Ordinance were placed on file in the Finance 
Department and on the Park District’s website on Tuesday, July 9, 2024. President Hays further 
declared the Public Hearing open as required by Illinois State Law in order to receive public 
comments on the Budget and Appropriation Amendment Ordinance. There was no public 
comment.  

D. CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING 

Thereafter, Commissioner Kul moved to adjourn the public hearing. The motion was seconded 
by Commissioner Solon and unanimously approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 Minutes of the August 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Page  2 

 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
President Hays then called the regular board meeting to order immediately following closing the 
public hearing. 

B. PRESENTATIONS 

Courtney Kouzmanoff, Director of Finance introduced Jen Martenson who appeared virtually to 

represent Lauterbach & Amen, LLC. The purpose of the presentation was to provide a 

summary and respond to questions regarding the completed FY 2022/23 Audit. Ms. Martenson 

confirmed a copy of the clean audit was available to the board in digital form. The audit was 

summarized as being broken down into three primary sections: introduction, finance, and 

transmittal. The Executive Summary was pointed out as the best resource to present a 

comprehensive overview of the audit, which included a ten (10) year financial trend of the Park 

District. After concluding the presentation, Ms. Martenson received questions and comments. 

None were received. The Commissioners expressed their thanks to Ms. Martenson.  

 
C. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
None. 
 
D. COMMUNICATIONS 
None.  
 
E. TREASURER’S REPORT 
Treasurer Lawson presented the report. She stated the Park District’s finances had been 
reviewed and were found to be in appropriate order. Ms. Lawson noted that the third 
installment of real estate taxes has been received from the County Clerk. Approximately fifty 
three percent (53%) of the total tax levy expected has been received. A short discussion of the 
July 2024 fund balances and confirmation of transfers was completed.  
Vice President McMahon made a motion to accept the Treasurer’s Report for the month of July 
2024. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Solon. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
F. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Ms. Sandquist gave a brief update of events that have recently taken place and future events. 
The CU Days event held at Douglass Park was a success with perfect weather and 
approximately 2500 residents attending. Ms. Sanquist acknowledged the staff for their hard 
work and the expedient cleanup of the park afterwards. The upcoming events that was noted 
included the Ties & Tennies Gala scheduled for Thursday, September 12th, the West Side Arts 
event set to take place at West Side Park on September 15, from 10:00 am to 5:00 pm, and on 
Saturday, October 5th there will be a ribbon cutting at Douglass Park at 1:00 pm. 
 
G. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS 
Mr. Scheunemann reported that the Ties and Tennies Gala planning continues. Highlights 
include over fifty-two thousand dollars ($52k) in sponsorships, approximately fifty-five (55) 
silent auction baskets, and ticket sales approximately one hundred and thirty (130) to date. The 
current goal is to sell more tickets, up to three hundred (300). 

 
 
 



 

 Minutes of the August 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Page  3 

 

H. REPORT OF OFFICERS 
Attorney’s Report  
Attorney Guy Hall reported on two (2) topics. The board previously approved the purchase of 
land from the Zahnd Family. The property is set for closing on Friday, August 16, 2024, at 9:00 
a.m. Commissioner Kuhl inquired whether there was any action for the Zahnd Family to lease 
back some of the buildings and if all buildings were completely empty. After discussion, it was 
noted that the parties will address the topic post-closing. At this time there is no agreement for 
the Zahnd Family to lease back the property. All buildings on the parcel will be owned by the 
Park District. Ms. Sandquist addressed the board to confirm she would contact the Zahnd 
Family to address the removal of personal items and to convey what would be required if a 
lease back agreement is still of interest.  
 
President’s Report 
None. 

 
I. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items appearing below were considered routine by the Board and shall be enacted by one 
motion. If discussion is desired, that item shall be removed and discussed separately. 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve the consent agenda items with removal item’s 
#3, and #6 (e) and (f), the motion was seconded by Vice President McMahon. 

 
1. Approval of Minutes of the Special Board Meeting, July 24, 2024 
2. Approval of Minutes of the Executive Session, July 24, 2024 
3. Approval of Resolution to Ratify Change Orders No. 2, 3, and 4 for the Douglass Park 

Concessions and Ballfield Project 
4. Acceptance of FY 2022/23 Audit as presented 
5. Approval of Agreement with COPS Shredding Services 
6. Approval of Updates to Board Policies 

a. 1-1 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
b. 3-5a Child Extended Bereavement Leave Act 
c. 3-5b Family Bereavement Leave Act 
d. 3-9 Victims Economic Security and Safety Act  
e. Whistleblower Protection Policy and Procedures 
f. Medication Dispensing Policy 
g. Transportation Policy 
h. Investment Policy  

 
After discussion, Commissioner Kuhl made a motion to approve consent agenda item #3 once 
the document had been amended to reflect the dollar amount of ($37,936.05) shown as a 
negative value indicating a lesser amount than initially estimated. The motion was seconded 
by commissioner Solon. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Kuhl made a motion to approve consent agenda item# #6(e), seconded by 
commissioner Somers after a conversation with council to confirm that commissioners should 
not be included in the Whistleblower Protection Policy and Procedure as they are elected as 
apposed to appointed officials and may need to judge a future circumstance. 
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve #6 (b), # 6(c), and # 6(f) with language 
changes to the policies. Commissioner Somers seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously.  

 



 

 Minutes of the August 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Page  4 

 

 
J. NEW BUSINESS 

 
1. Approval of Disbursements  

Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve the list of disbursements for the period 
beginning July 11, 2024, and ending August 13, 2024. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Somers. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Commissioner Kuhl – 
yes, Vice President McMahon – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes, Commissioner Somers 
– yes, and President Hays - yes. The motion passed 5-0. 
 

2. Approval of Proposal and Agreement with Skulski Consulting LLC for ADA Transition 
Plan Update 
There was discussion and thereafter, Commissioner Solan made a motion to approve 
approval for the Executive Director to entering into an agreement with Skulski 
Consulting, LLC for the ADA Audit and Transition Plan, Vice President Tim McMahon 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  

 
3. Approval of Agreement with Heart Technologies for Access Control 

Vice President Tim McMahon made a motion to approve the agreement with Heart 
Technologies for access control upgrades to Hays Center, the Operations Building, and 
Bresnan Meeting Center for a total amount of $77,996.25. Commissioner Somers 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  

 
4. Approval of Ordinance No. 682: FY25 Budget Amendment  

Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve adopting Ordinance No. 682, a Budget 
and Appropriation Amendment Ordinance for FY 2024/25 in the amount of $800,000. 
Commissioner Somers seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: 
Commissioner Kuhl – yes, Vice President McMahon – yes; Commissioner Solon – yes, 
Commissioner Somers – yes, and President Hays - yes. The motion passed 5-0. 

 
5. Approval of Bid to Replace and Upgrade the Fly System Computer Control at the 

Virginia Theatre  
Mr. Bentz reported to the Park Board regarding the project. Commissioner Kuhl made a 
motion to accept the low, responsible bid and  
authorize the Executive Director to enter into an agreement with Bodine Electric, of 
Decatur, IL, in the amount of $635,990.00 to act as general contractor for the Virginia 
Theatre’s Fly System Computer Control Replacement and Upgrade, with $393,490.00 to 
be allocated from funds currently held in the Champaign Parks Foundation’s Virginia 
Theatre Restoration Fund, subject to legal council approval, Commissioner Solon 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

6. Approval of Professional Services Agreement with University of Illinois Business 
Consulting Service for a Strategic Plan  
Ms. Sanquist and Mr. Scheunemann reported to the board regarding the proposed 

agreement. Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve the agreement with the 

University of Illinois Business Consulting, with an amendment to have the agreement 

reflect a minimum of five hundred (500) survey responses versus fifty (50), for a total 

cost of $15,000.00 as well as authorizing the Executive Director to enter into the contract 

for strategic plan services, Commissioner Somers seconded the motion. The motion 

passed unanimously. 



 

 Minutes of the August 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Page  5 

 

 

 

7. Approval of Bid for Reconstruction of Hessel Park Parking Lot 

Mr. Olson reported to the board regarding the Hessel Park project. Vice president 

McMahon made a motion to award the contract to the lowest bidder, Mid Illinois 

Concrete of Urbana Illinois, in the amount of $363,823.00 and to authorize the Executive 

Director to enter into a contract for the work. The motion was seconded by 

Commissioner Somers. The motion passed unanimously.     

 

8. Approval of an Easement Agreement with Marathon Petroleum Company for the 

Installation of a Trail 

Commissioner Somers made a motion to approve the Executive Director to enter into an 

agreement with Marathon Pipeline LLC for the installation of a trail, the motion was 

seconded by Commissioner Solon. The motion passed unanimously.  

 
K. DISCUSSION – Q1 Projects 

The Executive Director provided an overview of the first quarter Park District projects. 

The highlights included (36) completed projects since October of 2023 and (34) projects 

in process. Commissioner Kuhl inquired as to the data collected from the community 

relating to Clark Park. Mr. Olson, Director of Operations & Planning responded and 

offered to provide the data for the commissioners to review. 

 

Commissioner Kuhl addressed changing the meeting date with GovHR. Commissioner 

Kuhl also inquired about Parkland Way. 

 

L. COMMENTS FROM COMMISSIONERS 

None. 

 

M. ADJOURN  
There being no further business to come before the Board, Vice President McMahon 
made a motion to adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 
Somers and unanimously approved. The meeting was adjourned at 6:25 p.m.  
 
 

Approved: 
 
 
_____________________    ______________________________ 
Craig W. Hays, President    Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 
 



  Minutes of the August 28, 2024, Special Board Meeting Page  1 

 

 
 

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS 
August 28, 2024 

 
 

The Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners held a Special Board Meeting on Wednesday, 
August 28, 2024, at 5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois. 
The meeting occurred pursuant to published notice duly given. President Hays presided over the 
meeting.  
 
Present in person: President Craig W. Hays, Vice President Tim McMahon, Commissioners Barbara J. 
Kuhl and Michael R. Somers, Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director, Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary and 
Deputy Executive Director, Attorney Guy C. Hall. Excused as absent with prior notice: Commissioner 
Jane L. Solon. 
 
Staff present in person: Courtney Kouzmanoff, Director of Finance, Dan Olson, Director of Operations 
and Planning, Jimmy Gleason, Director of Facilities & Technology, Jeannie Robinson, Director of 
Recreation, Joe Kearfott, Assistant Director of Facilities & Technology, and Marguerite Bailey, 
Administrative Project Manager.  
 
CALL TO ORDER 
President Hays called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 
PRESENTATION 
President Hays acknowledged that the speaker Jeff Yockey had not yet arrived. The presentation would 
be heard after the board meeting agenda items. President Hays continued to the next item listed on the 
agenda.  
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
None. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
Approval of Agreement with Clark Dietz for Parkland Way Reconstruction Engineering 
Staff recommended the Board authorize the Executive Director to enter into the Professional Services 
Agreement with Clark Dietz for the Phase 1 engineering of reconstructing Parkland Way, for a total of 
$498,970.00. The board was pleased with the historical data compiled for review regarding Parkland Way. 
After discussion was held on the pros and cons of fixing the concrete, re-paving the road owned by the 
Park District, and possible updates to amenities to the property owned by the Park District the board 
requested further information. Commissioner Kuhl and Vice President McMahon requested for a cost 
estimate to add a layer of asphalt over the concrete and a cost estimate to fix the concrete road only with 
no additional amenities. Commissioner Kuhl moved to table the matter. The motion was seconded by Vice 
President Tim McMahon and was unanimously approved. This agenda item is tabled for a future meeting 
for further board discussion.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Approval of a Resolution to Apply for an Open Space Land Acquisition and Development (OSLAD) Grant  
Staff recommended approval to proceed with applying for the maximum amount of $ 600,000 for an OSLAD 
grant by way of authorization and signature of the provided Grant Program Resolution. After a brief 
discussion was held, Vice President Tim McMahon made a motion to proceed with completing an 



  Minutes of the August 28, 2024, Special Board Meeting Page  2 

 

application for the OSLAD Grant. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Somers. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of Champaign for Shared Use of John Street 
Building 
Staff recommended approval of entering into an intergovernmental agreement with the City of Champaign 
for shared use of the John Street building. There was a brief discussion pertaining to the history of the 
shared space and maintenance. Vice President Tim McMahon made a motion to enter into an 
intergovernmental agreement with the City of Champaign. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 
Somers. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Jimmy Gleason, Director of Facilities and Technology, prepared a PowerPoint presentation for the board 
and attendees regarding program participation from the summer of 2023 using the RecTrac software and 
compared it to participation using the SmartRec software which was implemented March 2024.  The overall 
impact was positive, showing a slight increase in participation in offered programs, increased online use, 
and an increase in private rentals. The board acknowledged the staff for their hard work in implementing 
the software and their forethought to offer desired programs and sunset those that were not being utilized. 
The board thanked Mr. Gleason for the presentation and update. 
 
COMMENTS FROM COMMISSIONERS 
None. 
 
PRESENTATION 
President Hays welcomed Mr. Jeff Yockey, who presented on behalf of Grand Prairie and Rails to Trails. 
He presented the history and progress of the Rail to Trail paths in the region. Mr. Yockey conveyed that 
with continued fundraising and path installation there could be a future possibility where the Kickapoo Rail 
Trail could connect to the Champaign County Rail Trail in Urbana through Champaign and extend 
Mahomet. Mr. Yockey expressed his desire to work with the Champaign Park District in the future if an 
opportunity presents itself. The board thanked Mr. Yockey for the presentation and the information 
provided. 
 
ADJOURN 
Vice President Tim McMahon made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 6:47 p.m., Commissioner Kuhl 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
Approved: 
 
 
_____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Craig W. Hays, President    Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 
 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: September 11, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Approve a Resolution Initiating the 2024 General Obligation Bond Issue 
        
Background 
The Champaign Park District annually issues General Obligation (GO) Bonds to fund necessary 
improvements and repairs to Park District property, as well as to cover debt service payments on 
the alternate revenue bonds (ARB) issued to build Sholem Aquatic Center. Last year, the Board 
authorized the issuance of $1,295,700 in non-referendum GO Bonds at an interest rate of 4.4%. 
Since then, the consumer price index (CPI) has increased by 3.4%, increasing the maximum 
amount the Park District can include in the 2024 property tax levy for debt to $1,414,135, including 
interest. 
 
For the fiscal year 2024/25, staff recommended issuing debt for $1,335,000. This amount would 
allocate $532,875 to the final ARB debt service payment, $56,583 to cover interest on the previous 
year’s bond issue, and the remaining $745,542 for capital improvements. Notably, the ARB bonds 
for the Sholem Aquatic Center will be fully paid off in the current fiscal year. As a result, beginning 
in FY 2025/26, the annual GO bonds will have additional capacity to fund capital improvements or 
alternative debt. 
 
Timeline for bond issuance 

• September 2024—Present a Resolution of intent to issue the annual GO bond for Board 
approval and set a public hearing date. 

• October 2024 – Staff requests Board approval to solicit bids for the bond issue. 

• November 2024 – Staff requests Board approval to (1) accept the bid for the bond issue, (2) 
approve of the bond ordinance, and (3) approve the payoff amount for the prior year's bond 
issue, due November 30, 2024. 

 
Prior Board Action 
None 
 
Budget Impact 
The FY 2024/25 budget includes funds to pay interest on the 2023 bond issue, which matures 
November 30, the $532,875 ARB bond final debt service payment in December, and all applicable 
attorney and filing fees for the 2024 debt issuance.  
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends that the Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners approve a resolution 
stating the Park District’s need and intent to issue $1,335,000 of General Obligation Bonds for FY 
2024/25. 
 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
Courtney R. Kouzmanoff Sarah Sandquist 
Director of Finance Executive Director  



RESOLUTION 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Champaign Park District is a duly authorized General Park District 
organized under the provisions of the Park District Code of the State of Illinois as amended; and 
 
 WHEREAS, for the payment of land purchased for parks and boulevards, for the 
building, maintaining, improving and protecting of the same, and for certain debt service on 
alternate bonds issued for such purposes, and for the payment of expenses incident thereto, the 
Champaign Park District is authorized and empowered to issue general obligation limited bonds 
of said Park District in an amount not to exceed 0.575% of the total assessed valuation of all 
property in said Park District by Ordinance, and within the Park District’s applicable debt service 
extension base, without an election on such proposition; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it now reasonably expected that the aggregate outstanding unpaid balance 
of bonds and notes of the Park District, including the bond issue which the Park District 
proposes to issue and sell on or about December 1, 2024, will not, on that date, exceed 0.575% 
of the total assessed valuation of all taxable property in the Park District, and in any event such 
amount will not be exceeded; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Commissioners of the Champaign Park District have made a thorough 
investigation and given careful consideration of the needs for maintaining, improving and 
protecting of the lands and buildings and the parks of said Park District, and for land acquisition 
and the payment of debt service on outstanding alternate bonds; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said Commissioners have determined it is necessary to raise additional 
funds for maintaining, improving and protecting the lands, buildings and parks of said Park 
District, including the payment of expenses incident thereto and the payment of debt service on 
outstanding alternate bonds; and 
 

WHEREAS, Champaign Park District does not have sufficient funds available for such 
purposes and, therefore, it will be necessary to borrow and to issue and sell general obligation 
limited bonds of said Park District as evidence of such indebtedness in the sum of up to 
$1,335,000.00, all as provided for by The Park District Code and the statutes of the State of 
Illinois thereunto enabling. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Park Commissioners of 
Champaign Park District, as follows: 
 

Section 1. It is desirable and necessary for the best interests of the Champaign Park 
District and for the residents thereof that the Park District raise additional funds for the 
maintaining, improving, and protecting of the lands and buildings and the parks of said Park 
District, and the payment of debt service on outstanding alternate bonds, and for land 
acquisition, including the payment of expenses incident thereto. 
 

Section 2. The Park District has obligated itself to pay the costs of such improvements 
and repairs and the payment of debt service on outstanding alternate bonds in excess of 
$1,335,000.00 and that, in order to be able to pay those costs, it is necessary, and for the best 
interests of Champaign Park District, that the Park District borrow the sum of $1,335,000.00 and 
that general obligation bonds of the Park District in the aggregate amount of $1,335,000.00 be 
issued in evidence thereof, and sold. 
 



Section 3. The ordinance selling such general obligation bonds shall not be enacted for 
a period of seven days after the adjournment of the public hearing to receive public comments 
on the proposal to sell such bonds. After the expiration of said seven-day period, the Park 
District may act on the ordinance selling such bonds for sale on terms to be hereafter approved 
by this Board general obligation limited bonds of Champaign Park District in the aggregate 
amount of up to $1,335,000.00, said bonds to be dated as provided in such ordinance, maturing 
on or about December 1, 2025, and the Director of Finance and/or the Treasurer of the Park 
District is hereby authorized and directed to seek out and negotiate with prospective purchasers 
of said bonds and to report to this Board for its consideration and approval or disapproval the 
interest rates and other terms bid by said prospective purchasers. 

 

Adopted this 11th day of September 2024. 
 
 
      Approved: 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Craig W. Hays, President 
 
 
 
      Attest: 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary  



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: September 11, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of a Resolution Setting a Public Hearing on Proposed Bond Issue 
        
Background 
Per the Illinois State Statute, if the Champaign Park District is to sell General Obligation (GO) Bonds, 
a Public Hearing must occur to receive public comments on the proposal to sell bonds.  
Staff is requesting Park Board approval of a Resolution to set the public hearing date for Wednesday, 
October 9, 2024, at 5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center to discuss the issuance of $1,335,000 
of bonds to provide funds for capital improvements and to pay debt service on alternate bonds. 
 
Prior Board Action 
None 
 
Budget Impact 
The FY 2024/25 budget includes the GO Bonds issue at the full value mentioned above, as well as 
all applicable attorney and filing fees. Due to the tax cap restriction this year, the issuance will be less 
than the full amount indicated in the budget.  
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends that the Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners approve a resolution to 
set a Public Hearing to discuss the issuance of the GO Bonds for Wednesday, October 9, 2024, at 
5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center. 
 
 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
 
Courtney Kouzmanoff Sarah Sandquist, CPRE 

Director of Finance Executive Director  



RESOLUTION 
 
 WHEREAS, it is the intention of Champaign Park District to sell bonds in the total amount of 
$1,335,000.00 for the purpose of providing funds to pay for the building, maintaining, improving 
and protecting the parks and boulevards of the Park District, and for certain debt service on 
alternate bonds issued for such purpose, and for the payment of expenses incident thereto. 
 
 WHEREAS, it is required by statute that a governmental unit proposing to sell non-
referendum general obligation bonds hold a public hearing concerning its intent to do so prior to 
the sale of such bonds, and that it give notice of such hearing as required by said statute. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Park Commissioners of 
Champaign Park District that said Park District shall hold a public hearing concerning its intent to 
issue and sell general obligations bonds of said Park District in the amount of $1,335,000.00 for 
said purpose, said public hearing to be held Wednesday, October 9, 2024, at 5:30 P.M. at Bresnan 
Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois, as part of the regularly scheduled 
meeting of said Board to be held that date. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Secretary of this Board shall give due public notice 
of said hearing in the time and manner prescribed by law. 
 
 Adopted this 11th day of September 2024. 
 
 
       Approved: 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Craig W. Hays, President 
 
 
 
       Attest: 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 

Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  September 11, 2024  
 
SUBJECT:  Sunset Ridge Drive Reconstruction Bid  
 
Background 
The Champaign Park District solicited bids for the reconstruction of the parking lot entry approach 
at Sunset Ridge Park. When the parking lot was constructed in 2012, Peppermill Lane was not fully 
constructed, and the street was a dead end shortly past the intersection at Boulder Ridge Drive. A 
temporary chip and seal driveway was constructed to gain access to the parking lot. This 
temporary drive has deteriorated beyond repair. Staff recommends removal of the deteriorated 
drive. The new concrete approach will come directly out of the parking lot to the east, along with 
the sidewalk extension. The damaged City sidewalk panels through the old approach will be 
removed and replaced, along with a new street curb.             
   
Bid Results 
An invitation to bid was published in The News-Gazette. The bids were opened and read aloud on   
Thursday, August 29, 2024. The results are as follows:  
 

Contractor Total Bid Amount  

Duce Construction Company  $52,775.00 

Stark Excavating, Inc  $68,200.00 

Mid-Illinois Concrete & Excavation $70,210.00 

Owens Excavating & Trucking  $83,844.00 

A & A Concrete  $85,369.50 

Cross Construction  $86,096.00 

 
Prior Board Action 
The Park Board approved the FY25 Capital Improvement budget at the December 13, 2023 
Regular Board meeting.  
 
Budget Impact 
$70,000 was budgeted in the FY25 Capital Improvement plan for general concrete work (25RM02).  
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends awarding the total bid amount to the low, responsive bidder, Duce Construction 
Company, Champaign IL, in the amount of $52,775 and requests the Park Board to authorize the 
Executive Director to enter into a contractual agreement for this work. 
 
Prepared by:      Reviewed by:        
 
Bret Johnson                             Dan Olson      
Assistant Director of Operations & Planning             Director of Operations & Planning   







CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
Agreement 

 
 This Agreement is made and entered into effective this 12th day of September 2024, by and 
between the Champaign Park District, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as, "Park District"), 
whose principal address is 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois, and Duce Construction Company, 
hereinafter referred to as, "Contractor", whose principal address is 417 Wilbur Avenue, Champaign, IL 
61822. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS the Park District and Contractor desire to enter into an agreement whereby Contractor 
will provide services to Park District at designated locations as hereafter set forth. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements 
herein set forth, Park District and Contractor agree as follows:  
 
1. Services.  The Contractor agrees to provide all materials, supplies, and equipment and to perform all 

labor required to complete the Sunset Ridge Park drive reconstruction, within the Park District, as 
described in and in accordance with the provisions of the contract documents which include, but are 
not limited to: information to vendors, specifications, request for bids, contractor’s bid’s and this 
construction contract, including any change orders agreed to hereinafter. 

 
2. Time of Performance.  The work to be performed under this contract shall be commenced by 

Monday, September 16, 2024 and shall be entirely completed by October 15, 2024 unless prevented 
by adverse weather conditions and other circumstances approved in writing by the Park District. The 
work period may be extended at the sole discretion of the Park District as provided for herein. Failure 
to complete the work in such time shall be a breach of this contract entitling the Park District to 
recourse pursuant to Contractor's performance bond and the terms hereof. 

 
3. Compensation for Services.  Park District shall pay the Contractor for the services provided for the 

sum of $52,775, payable on the second Thursday of the month following total completion of all said 
work and approval and acceptance by owner which shall not be unreasonably withheld. All billing must 
be received by the Park District by the first Wednesday of the month in order to be paid in the same 
month. The Park District shall make installments as bills are received based on the work completed, 
with such payments to be paid no later than the second Thursday of the month following submission of 
the bills. 

   
4. Hold Harmless and Indemnification.  Park District shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

Contractor and any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives from and against 
any and all liability, loss, costs, causes of actions, demands, attorney’s fees, expenses, claims, suits 
and judgments of whatsoever kind and character, including without limitation, all possible costs of 
responding to demands, in whatever form that may take, with respect to any claim made against  that 
arises solely from an act, failure or omission on the part of Park District or any of its commissioners, 
officers, employees, agents, volunteers and representatives in carrying out of the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 
          The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Park District and any of its 

commissioners, officers, employees, agents, volunteers, and representatives from and against any and 
all liability, loss, costs, causes of actions, demands, attorney’s fees, expenses, claims, suits and 
judgments of whatsoever kind and character, including without limitation, all possible costs of 
responding to demands, in whatever form that may take, with respect to any claim made against the 
Park District that arises solely from an act, failure or omission on the part of the Contractor or any of its 
directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives in carrying out of the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 



- 2 - 

5. Insurance.  The Contractor shall keep in full force and effect at all times during this Agreement a 
comprehensive general liability insurance policy, with contractual liability coverage, with minimum limits 
of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 annual aggregate together with property 
damage insurance of not less than $2,000,000. All insurance carriers providing the coverage set forth 
herein shall have a rating of A as assigned by A.M. Best and Co. and shall be reasonably satisfactory 
to Park District. All insurance coverage provided by the Contractor shall be primary insurance as to 
Park District. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Park District shall be in excess of the 
Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. The Park District, its commissioners, officers, 
employees, agents, representatives, and volunteers shall be covered as additional insured's under the 
general liability coverage which shall contain no special limitation on the scope of protection afforded to 
the additional insured's, and shall contain appropriate extensions or riders necessary to assure 
coverage. The policy shall not be cancelled or amended without at least ten (10) days’ prior written 
notice having been given to the Park District. Cancellation of any such coverage without a substitute 
policy containing the required coverage's being put in force, shall be grounds for the Park District to 
immediately terminate this Agreement with no further rights afforded to the Contractor. At its option, 
Park District may continue such insurance at its cost and obtain reimbursement and repayment thereof 
from the Contractor. In such event, the Contractor shall pay the amount due within ten (10) days of 
payment by Park District. The Parties acknowledge that the Contractor may from time-to-time change 
insurers; provided that, the Park District shall be provided with a certificate of such insurance otherwise 
conforming to and in compliance with the terms hereof, promptly upon such change. 

 
The Contractor shall provide a certificate of such insurance as may be applicable from time to time, 
listed below, at the time Agreement is signed and annually thereafter. Note that all limits of liability for 
insurance shall be not less than the following amounts, and must be greater where required by other 
laws or regulations and must be insured on an "occurrence" basis and not on a "claims made" basis: 

 
i. Workers' Compensation: 

• State Statutory 

• Applicable Federal Statutory 
 

ii. Comprehensive General Liability: 

• Bodily Injury (including completed operation and products liability) and Property Damage: 
$2,000,000 Each Occurrence, $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate or a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 

• Property damage liability insurance will provide Explosion, Collapse and Underground 
coverage where applicable. 

• Contractual Liability (Hold Harmless Coverage): Bodily Injury: $2,000,000   

• Each Occurrence Property Damage:  $2,000,000 

• Each Occurrence $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate 
 

iii. Comprehensive Automobile Liability: 

• Bodily Injury: $2,000 ,000 Each Person and $2,000,000 Each Occurrence 

• Property Damage: $500,000 Each Occurrence or combined single limit of $500,000 
 

iv.    Umbrella Liability Insurance:  

• Contractor shall carry umbrella liability insurance with minimum limits of $5,000,000 in the      
aggregate.  

 
6. Independent Contractor. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the relationship 

between Park District and the Contractor is, and shall remain, one of independent contractors. Nothing 
in this Agreement shall be construed to establish a relationship of employer/employee, partners or joint 
venturers between the Parties.  In addition, the Contractor may from time-to-time hire person(s) to 
perform labor and other services for it, and any such person(s) shall not be construed to be an 
employee of or contractor with the Park District in any manner whatsoever. Furthermore, the 
Contractor does hereby acknowledge its obligations and shall remain responsible for the payment of all 
withholdings, insurance or other amounts as may be required by law in connection with its hiring or 
contracting with any such person(s), and shall in all respects hold Park District harmless from and 
indemnify it for the payment of any such amounts.  



- 3 - 

7. Default.  The Park District may terminate this Agreement in the event of a default or breach.  A default 
or breach shall be deemed to occur when any of the services are not provided as required and in the 
manner and at the times provided for in the specifications referred to in this Agreement. In the event of 
breach or termination, the Contractor shall be responsible to pay Park District for the reasonable costs 
incurred by Park District in obtaining replacement services. 

 
8. Laws and Venue.  The parties agree that the laws governing this Agreement shall be the laws of the 

State of Illinois. The parties further agree that in the event of any claim or lawsuit regarding this 
Agreement, Champaign County, Illinois shall be the appropriate venue for such claim or suit.  

  
9. Severability.  In any event one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be 

determined by a Court to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such provision shall be 
deemed severed from this Agreement, and the validity, legality, or enforceability of the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement or any other application thereof shall not be affected or impaired thereby, 
and shall, therefore remain in effect. 

 
10. Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations 

applicable to the work to be performed, including, without limitation, the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 
Illinois Fair Employment Practices Act, all equal employment opportunity laws, all affirmative action 
ordinances and all other state, federal, or local laws or regulations applicable to the performance of this 
contract. In this connection, Contractor guarantees that not less than the prevailing rate of wages shall 
be paid to laborers, workers and mechanics performing work required to complete this contract. 
Further, Contractor acknowledges that, except in certain situations permitted by law, Illinois-resident 
laborers will be used for the work.  

 
11. Assignment.  Neither party, nor any subsidiary, successor, partner, employee, agent or affiliate shall 

assign or delegate any of their rights or responsibilities under this Agreement without the prior written 
consent of the other, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any assignee or sub-contractor must 
be acceptable to the Park District, must furnish a signed Champaign Park District "Commitment to 
engage in Affirmative Action Practices" form, and must agree to comply with all statutory requirements 
pertaining to Illinois prevailing wages, the Illinois Fair Employment Act, Equal Opportunity laws and all 
other State and Federal laws and regulations applicable to the performance of this Agreement.  

 
12. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in the performance and completion of the terms of this 

Agreement.   
 
13. Waiver.  Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this 

Agreement, shall not be deemed a waiver of the term, covenant or condition, nor shall any waiver or 
relinquishment of any right or power at any one time or times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of 
the right or power at all or any other times.  

 
14. Counterparts.  This Agreement shall be executed in duplicate, each of which shall be deemed to be 

an original.  
 
15. Notice.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to 

have been given on the date and at the time they are sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
the respective party at the address set forth below, or at such other place or address as the parties 
shall provide to each other in writing. In addition, any such notice shall be sent by first class regular 
U.S. Mail.  

 
Champaign Park District Duce Construction Company  
Attention: Sarah Sandquist Attention: Michael Ducey 
Executive Director President 
706 Kenwood Road 417 Wilbur Ave.  
Champaign, IL  61821 Champaign, IL  61822 

  



- 4 - 

16. Entire Agreement and Amendment.  This Agreement and any terms or specifications attached 
hereto or otherwise referred to herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to 
the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior or contemporaneous agreements and 
understandings either oral or written of the parties in connection herewith. No modification of this 
Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing, signed by both parties and dated after the date 
hereof. 

 
17.  Term. This Agreement shall be in effect upon execution, provided this Agreement may be terminated 

at any time without notice upon the express written consent of both Parties or for default as provided 
for herein. 

 
18.  Interpretation of Agreement. In interpreting this Agreement, each of the Parties expressly agrees that 

the Agreement was prepared by all of the Parties jointly, and that no ambiguities shall be resolved 
against any Party on the basis that it was responsible, or primarily responsible for having drafted the 
Agreement. In addition, each of the Parties acknowledges that it did not execute this Agreement under 
duress, and was represented by legal counsel in connection with the preparation of this Agreement or 
chose not to engage the services of such counsel. Further, whenever the context so requires: (a) all 
words used in the singular shall be construed to have been used in the plural (and vice versa); (b) 
each gender shall be construed to include the other gender; (c) the word “person” shall be construed to 
include a natural person, corporation, limited liability company or partnership, firm, joint venture, trust, 
estate, or any other entity, and (d) the words “and” as well as “or” shall be construed either 
disjunctively or conjunctively as necessary to bring within the scope of any provision of this Agreement 
any person, right, obligation or concept which might otherwise be construed to be outside the scope of 
such provision. 

19. Authority to Execute Agreement. Each person or entity executing this Agreement represents that 
he/she/it is authorized to execute the Agreement. Each person executing this Agreement on behalf of 
any entity represents that he or she is authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of such entity. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be executed effective as of the 

day and year first above written.  
 
PARK DISTRICT:     CONTRACTOR:   
Champaign Park District     Duce Construction Company   
 
 
By: __________________________________   By: _________________________________  

  
 
It’s: _________________________________  It’s __________________________________ 
 
 

Date: _________________________________ Date: ________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Jarrod Scheunemann, Board Secretary 
 
Date: _________________________________ 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  September 11, 2024  
 
SUBJECT:  Pickleball and Dexter Field Lighting Bid  
 
Background 
The Park District solicited a single bid to install sports lighting at two locations. The John Street 
Pickleball Complex will receive new lighting, and the Dexter Baseball Field will receive replacements. 
The new lighting system for pickleball will consist of four (4) new 50’ poles and sixteen (16) Musco 
LED fixtures. The replacement system for Dexter field will consist of six (6) new 60’ and 70’ poles 
and thirty (30) Musco LED fixtures. The existing lighting system was installed in 1987. Staff will also 
apply for an Ameren Illinois energy savings incentive for this site.     
Both new systems have a 25-year manufacturer warranty.   
   
Bid Results 
An invitation to bid was published in The News-Gazette. The bids were opened and read aloud on  
August 29, 2024. The bid amounts for each facility are shown separated below.  However, they were 
bid as one project to get better pricing and cannot be split between two bidders. The results are as 
follows:  
 

Contractor Pickleball Bid Amount Dexter Bid Amount Total Bid Amount  

Barton Electric, Inc $220,000 $160,000 $380,000 

Remco Electrical Corp $221,163 $214,175 $435,338 

Davis Electric   $193,978 $284,172 $478,150 

Glesco Electric, Inc $252,973 $324,123 $577,096 

 
Prior Board Action 
The Park Board approved the FY25 Capital Improvement budget at the December 13, 2023, Regular 
Board meeting.  
 
Budget Impact 
$230,000 was budgeted in the FY25 Capital Improvement plan for new lights at the John St. 
Pickleball Complex (250012), and $305,000 was budgeted in the FY25 Capital Improvement plan 
for replacement lights at Dexter Baseball Field (250013).  
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends awarding the total bid amount, for both locations, to the low, responsive bidder, 
Barton Electric, Trenton IL, in the amount of $380,000 and requests the Board to authorize the 
Executive Director to enter into a contractual agreement for this work. 
 
Prepared by:      Reviewed by:  
       
Bret Johnson                             Dan Olson      
Assistant Director of Operations & Planning             Director of Operations & Planning   



CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
Agreement 

 
 This Agreement is made and entered into effective this 12th day of September, 2024, by and 
between the Champaign Park District, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as, "Park District"), 
whose principal address is 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois, and Barton Electric Inc., hereinafter 
referred to as, "Contractor", whose principal address is 247 State Route 160, Trenton, IL  62293. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Park District and Contractor desire to enter into an agreement whereby Contractor 
will provide services to Park District at designated locations as hereafter set forth. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements 
herein set forth, Park District and Contractor agree as follows:  
 
1. Services.  The Contractor agrees to provide all materials, supplies, and equipment and to perform all 

labor required to complete the new outdoor lighting system at the John St. pickleball complex and the 
replacement outdoor lighting system at Dexter field, within the Park District, as described in and in 
accordance with the provisions of the contract documents which include, but are not limited to: 
information to vendors, specifications, request for bids, contractor’s bid’s and this construction contract, 
including any change orders agreed to hereinafter. 

 
2. Time of Performance.  The work to be performed under this contract shall be commenced by 

Monday, September 16, 2024 and shall be entirely completed by December 16, 2024 unless prevented 
by adverse weather conditions and other circumstances approved in writing by the Park District. The 
work period may be extended at the sole discretion of the Park District as provided for herein. Failure 
to complete the work in such time shall be a breach of this contract entitling the Park District to 
recourse pursuant to Contractor's performance bond and the terms hereof. 

 
3. Compensation for Services.  Park District shall pay the Contractor for the services provided for the 

sum of $380,000, payable on the second Thursday of the month following total completion of all said 
work and approval and acceptance by owner which shall not be unreasonably withheld. All billing must 
be received by the Park District by the first Wednesday of the month in order to be paid in the same 
month. The Park District shall make installments as bills are received based on the work completed, 
with such payments to be paid no later than the second Thursday of month following submission of the 
bills. 

   
4. Hold Harmless and Indemnification.  Park District shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

Contractor and any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives from and against 
any and all liability, loss, costs, causes of actions, demands, attorney’s fees, expenses, claims, suits 
and judgments of whatsoever kind and character, including without limitation, all possible costs of 
responding to demands, in whatever form that may take, with respect to any claim made against  that 
arises solely from an act, failure or omission on the part of Park District or any of its commissioners, 
officers, employees, agents, volunteers and representatives in carrying out of the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 
          The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Park District and any of its 

commissioners, officers, employees, agents, volunteers, and representatives from and against any and 
all liability, loss, costs, causes of actions, demands, attorney’s fees, expenses, claims, suits and 
judgments of whatsoever kind and character, including without limitation, all possible costs of 
responding to demands, in whatever form that may take, with respect to any claim made against the 
Park District that arises solely from an act, failure or omission on the part of the Contractor or any of its 
directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives in carrying out of the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 



- 2 - 

5. Insurance.  The Contractor shall keep in full force and effect at all times during this Agreement a 
comprehensive general liability insurance policy, with contractual liability coverage, with minimum limits 
of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 annual aggregate together with property 
damage insurance of not less than $2,000,000. All insurance carriers providing the coverage set forth 
herein shall have a rating of A as assigned by A.M. Best and Co. and shall be reasonably satisfactory 
to Park District. All insurance coverage provided by the Contractor shall be primary insurance as to 
Park District. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Park District shall be in excess of the 
Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. The Park District, its commissioners, officers,  
employees, agents, representatives, and volunteers shall be covered as additional insured's under the 
general liability coverage which shall contain no special limitation on the scope of protection afforded to 
the additional insured's, and shall contain appropriate extensions or riders necessary to assure 
coverage. The policy shall not be cancelled or amended without at least ten (10) days prior written 
notice having been given to the Park District. Cancellation of any such coverage without a substitute 
policy containing the required coverage's being put in force, shall be grounds for the Park District to 
immediately terminate this Agreement with no further rights afforded to the Contractor. At its option, 
Park District may continue such insurance at its cost and obtain reimbursement and repayment thereof 
from the Contractor. In such event, the Contractor shall pay the amount due within ten (10) days of 
payment by Park District. The Parties acknowledge that the Contractor may from time to time change 
insurers; provided that, the Park District shall be provided with a certificate of such insurance otherwise 
conforming to and in compliance with the terms hereof, promptly upon such change. 

 
The Contractor shall provide a certificate of such insurance as may be applicable from time to time, 
listed below, at the time Agreement is signed and annually thereafter. Note that all limits of liability for 
insurance shall be not less than the following amounts, and must be greater where required by other 
laws or regulations and must be insured on an "occurrence" basis and not on a "claims made" basis: 

 
i. Workers' Compensation: 

• State Statutory 

• Applicable Federal Statutory 
 

ii. Comprehensive General Liability: 

• Bodily Injury (including completed operation and products liability) and Property Damage: 
$2,000,000 Each Occurrence, $2,000,000 Annual  Aggregate or a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 

• Property damage liability insurance will provide Explosion, Collapse and Underground 
coverages where applicable. 

• Contractual Liability (Hold Harmless Coverage): Bodily Injury: $2,000,000   

• Each Occurrence Property Damage:  $2,000,000 

• Each Occurrence $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate 
 

iii. Comprehensive Automobile Liability: 

• Bodily Injury: $2,000 ,000 Each Person and $2,000,000 Each Occurrence 

• Property Damage: $500,000 Each Occurrence or combined single limit of $500,000 
 
        iv.     Umbrella Liability Insurance:  

• Contractor shall carry umbrella liability insurance with minimum limits of $5,000,000 in the      
aggregate.  

 
6. Independent Contractor. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the relationship 

between Park District and the Contractor is, and shall remain, one of independent contractors. Nothing 
in this Agreement shall be construed to establish a relationship of employer/employee, partners or joint 
venturers between the Parties.  In addition, the Contractor may from time-to-time hire person(s) to 
perform labor and other services for it, and any such person(s) shall not be construed to be an 
employee of or contractor with the Park District in any manner whatsoever. Furthermore, the 
Contractor does hereby acknowledge its obligations and shall remain responsible for the payment of all 
withholdings, insurance or other amounts as may be required by law in connection with its hiring or 
contracting with any such person(s), and shall in all respects hold Park District harmless from and 
indemnify it for the payment of any such amounts. 



- 3 - 

7. Default.  The Park District may terminate this Agreement in the event of a default or breach.  A default 
or breach shall be deemed to occur when any of the services are not provided as required and in the 
manner and at the times provided for in the specifications referred to in this Agreement. In the event of 
breach or termination, the Contractor shall be responsible to pay Park District for the reasonable costs 
incurred by Park District in obtaining replacement services. 

 
8. Laws and Venue.  The parties agree that the laws governing this Agreement shall be the laws of the 

State of Illinois. The parties further agree that in the event of any claim or lawsuit regarding this 
Agreement, Champaign County, Illinois shall be the appropriate venue for such claim or suit.  

  
9. Severability.  In any event one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be 

determined by a Court to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such provision shall be 
deemed severed from this Agreement, and the validity, legality, or enforceability of the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement or any other application thereof shall not be affected or impaired thereby, 
and shall, therefore remain in effect. 

 
10. Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations 

applicable to the work to be performed, including, without limitation, the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 
Illinois Fair Employment Practices Act, all equal employment opportunity laws, all affirmative action 
ordinances and all other state, federal, or local laws or regulations applicable to the performance of this 
contract. In this connection, Contractor guarantees that not less than the prevailing rate of wages shall 
be paid to laborers, workers and mechanics performing work required to complete this contract. 
Further, Contractor acknowledges that, except in certain situations permitted by law, Illinois-resident 
laborers will be used for the work.  

 
11. Assignment.  Neither party, nor any subsidiary, successor, partner, employee, agent or affiliate shall 

assign or delegate any of their rights or responsibilities under this Agreement without the prior written 
consent of the other, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any assignee or sub-contractor must 
be acceptable to the Park District, must furnish a signed Champaign Park District "Commitment to 
engage in Affirmative Action Practices" form, and must agree to comply with all statutory requirements 
pertaining to Illinois prevailing wages, the Illinois Fair Employment Act, Equal Opportunity laws and all 
other State and Federal laws and regulations applicable to the performance of this Agreement.  

 
12. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in the performance and completion of the terms of this 

Agreement.   
 
13. Waiver.  Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this 

Agreement, shall not be deemed a waiver of the term, covenant or condition, nor shall any waiver or 
relinquishment of any right or power at any one time or times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of 
the right or power at all or any other times.  

 
14. Counterparts.  This Agreement shall be executed in duplicate, each of which shall be deemed to be 

an original.  
 
15. Notice.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be deemed to 

have been given on the date and at the time they are sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
the respective party at the address set forth below, or at such other place or address as the parties 
shall provide to each other in writing. In addition, any such notice shall be sent by first class regular 
U.S. Mail.  

 
Champaign Park District Barton Electric Inc 
Attention: Sarah Sandquist Attention: Elaine Barton 
Executive Director President 
706 Kenwood Road 247 State Route 160 
Champaign, IL  61821 Trenton, IL  62293 

  



- 4 - 

16. Entire Agreement and Amendment.  This Agreement and any terms or specifications attached 
hereto or otherwise referred to herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to 
the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior or contemporaneous agreements and 
understandings either oral or written of the parties in connection herewith. No modification of this 
Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing, signed by both parties and dated after the date 
hereof. 

 
17.  Term. This Agreement shall be in effect upon execution, provided this Agreement may be terminated 

at any time without notice upon the express written consent of both Parties or for default as provided 
for herein. 

 
18.  Interpretation of Agreement. In interpreting this Agreement, each of the Parties expressly agrees that 

the Agreement was prepared by all of the Parties jointly, and that no ambiguities shall be resolved 
against any Party on the basis that it was responsible, or primarily responsible for having drafted the 
Agreement. In addition, each of the Parties acknowledges that it did not execute this Agreement under 
duress, and was represented by legal counsel in connection with the preparation of this Agreement or 
chose not to engage the services of such counsel. Further, whenever the context so requires: (a) all 
words used in the singular shall be construed to have been used in the plural (and vice versa); (b) 
each gender shall be construed to include the other gender; (c) the word “person” shall be construed to 
include a natural person, corporation, limited liability company or partnership, firm, joint venture, trust, 
estate, or any other entity, and (d) the words “and” as well as “or” shall be construed either 
disjunctively or conjunctively as necessary to bring within the scope of any provision of this Agreement 
any person, right, obligation or concept which might otherwise be construed to be outside the scope of 
such provision. 

19. Authority to Execute Agreement. Each person or entity executing this Agreement represents that 
he/she/it is authorized to execute the Agreement. Each person executing this Agreement on behalf of 
any entity represents that he or she is authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of such entity. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be executed effective as of the 
day and year first above written.  

 
PARK DISTRICT:     CONTRACTOR:   
Champaign Park District     Barton Electric Inc  
 
 
By: __________________________________   By: _________________________________  

  
 
It’s: _________________________________  It’s __________________________________ 
 
 

Date: _________________________________ Date: ________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Jarrod Scheunemann, Board Secretary 
 
Date: _________________________________ 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

  

 

 
 

 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: September 11, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Virginia Theatre Alcohol Beverage Service Agreement for 2024-2025  
 
Proposal 
To allow for the sale by a third-party vendor of alcoholic beverages, including wine, beer, and 
spirits, on site at the Virginia Theatre during select events under a one-year agreement between 
the Champaign Park District (Park District) and Carbri, Inc., of Champaign, doing business as 
Farren's Pub & Eatery (Farren’s). 
 
Background 
Since 2013, alcoholic beverages have been offered for sale at select Virginia Theatre events by 
outside merchants who are contracted to sell wine, beer, and spirits in the facility’s lobbies. No 
glass containers are used, and the alcohol concession at these events and the service has gone 
without incident.  
 
The Park District has had a vendor contract with Farren’s for over ten (10) years for alcoholic 
beverage service at the Virginia Theatre.  The contract included a commission of 25% of 
Farren’s net sales, providing the Park District with additional revenue while enhancing the 
theatre’s service to its patrons. 
 
The contract specifies that the vendor is responsible for training their own staff and acting as an 
independent business-within-a-business, bringing their own supplies and handling set up, tear 
down, and clean up. The vendor is responsible for their own stock, insurance, alcohol licensing, 
“Bassett” certification of bar staff, identification checks, and sales to the public. 
 
Prior Board Action 
On August 9, 2023, the Park Board authorized the Executive Director to enter into an extension 
of an agreement between the Park District and Farren’s to act as vendor for public alcohol 
sales, including wine, beer, and spirits, at the Virginia Theatre for a one-year period beginning 
that expires September 12, 2024.  
 
RFP Results 
Two proposals were received at the Park District in response to its request by the deadline of 
3:00 P.M., Thursday, August 29, 2024, from the following vendors for alcoholic beverage 
service at the Virginia Theatre: 
 

1. Farren’s Pub and Eatery, 117 North Walnut Street, Champaign, Illinois, 61820 
 

2. The Hound’s Rest, LLC, 120 North Walnut Street, Champaign, Illinois, 61820 
 
 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

  

 

 
 
Farren’s Pub and Eatery proposed a commission of 10% of gross alcoholic beverage sales 
versus 25% of net alcoholic beverage sales after the deduction of the following approved vendor 
expenses: sales tax, cost-of-inventory-sold, credit card processing fees, liquor licenses, and 
labor. Farren’s also accepted and agreed to the terms of the RFP. 
 
The Hound’s Rest proposed a commission of 10% of gross sales of alcoholic beverages at the 
Virginia Theatre. Hound’s Rest also accepted and agreed to the terms of the RFP. 
 
The proposals differ in how the commission is calculated, with Farren’s offering a guaranteed 
percentage of gross sales vs a higher commission based on net sales, while The Hound’s Rest 
offers a flat percentage commission based on gross sales, with no further deduction for 
business expenses. 
 
Based upon past alcoholic beverage sales at the Virginia Theatre, sales commissions paid to 
the Park District have at times exceeded 12.5% of gross, after the deduction of vendor 
expenses. For this reason, staff believes that the “versus” commission structure offered by 
Farren’s would allow the Park District the benefits of both a guaranteed 10%-of-gross-sales 
commission and the potential for higher revenues. 
 
Budget Impact 
None. There is no out-of-pocket expense to the Park District.  
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends the Park Board authorizes the Executive Director to enter into an agreement 
with Carbri, Inc., (dba) Farren's Pub & Eatery for alcoholic beverage service, including wine, 
beer, and spirits, at the Virginia Theatre for a one-year period beginning September 13, 2024, to 
September 12, 2025. 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
Steven Bentz Sarah Sandquist 
Director, Virginia Theatre Executive Director  











FARREN’S PUB AND EATERY   117 N WALNUT, CHAMPAIGN, IL, 61820   217/359-6977 
 
August 28, 2024 
 
Steven Bentz  
Virginia Theatre   
203 West Park Avenue  
Champaign, IL 61820 
 
Re: Proposal to Sell Alcoholic Beverages at the Champaign Park District’s Virginia Theatre  
 
To whom it may concern, 
 
Farren’s Pub and Eatery wishes to submit the attached proposal for consideration in the 
matter of choosing a vendor to sell alcoholic beverages at the Virginia Theatre. 
 
Farren’s has been in business since February 18, 2000, and we have been working with the 
Virginia Theater and the Champaign Park District since 2013. We have enjoyed a mutually 
beneficial relationship for its entirety, providing alcoholic beverage service at hundreds of 
public events. 
 
For 2024-2025, we propose the same business arrangement and sales commission 
structure that we have been operating under for our current agreement, but with the 
additional inclusion of a 10%-of-gross-sales “guarantee”. This is for those cases where the 
standing 25% commission calculated from net sales (after the deduction of all vendor 
expenses) would otherwise fall below 10% of the actual gross sales. 
 
Please note that this arrangement still includes the current sales commission of 25% of net 
alcoholic beverage sales, calculated by subtracting from the total gross sales the following 
approved vendor expenditures: sales tax, cost-of-inventory-sold, credit card processing 
fees, liquor licenses, and labor. Attached please also find a sample menu of current 
offerings. 
 
We respectfully request that Farren’s corporate structure be able to apply and obtain a 
permanent site liquor license in lieu of applying for individual T licenses for each event. 
 
As always, we are amenable to making tweaks and adjustments to our service to best 
accommodate theatre guests and events. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration in this matter! We look forward to continuing our 
relationship. 
 
Regards, Carolyn Farren 
Owner/Operator, Farren’s Pub & Eatery 



















Welcome to the Historic Virginia Theater 
Bar Service is provided by 

Farren’s Pub & Eatery 
 
 

BEER 
(16 ounce Cans, $7 each) 

 
Blind Pig & Farren’s Swine Toasts Bovine Cream Ale 

Blind Pig U of IPA 
Blind Pig Reserve Lager 

Blind Pig Blue Pils 
Triptych Dank Meme Hazy IPA 

Rigg’s Hefeweizen 
Coors Light 

 
 

WINE 
(7 ounces, $9 each) 

Red Blend (dry), White Blend (dry) or Moscato (sweet) 
 
 
 

High Noon Vodka Seltzer 
$7 

Pineapple or Black Cherry 
 
 

Untitled Art Hard Seltzer 
$7 

Pineapple/Mango, Blood Orange/Pomegranate,  
Prickly Pear/Guava 

Or Blackberry/Agave 
 
 
 
 

25% of Net Proceeds is donated to The Virginia 
Theater 

 



Welcome to the Historic Virginia Theater Bar Service 
is provided by 

Farren’s Pub & Eatery 
BEER 

(16 ounce Cans, $7 each) 
Blind Pig & Farren’s Swine Toasts Bovine Cream Ale 

Blind Pig U of IPA 
Blind Pig Reserve Lager 

Blind Pig Blue Pils 
Triptych Dank Meme Hazy IPA 

Rigg’s Hefeweizen 
Coors Light 

WINE 
(7 ounces, $9 each) 

Red Blend (dry), White Blend (dry) or Moscato 
(sweet) 

25% of Net Proceeds is donated to The Virginia 
Theater 



 

The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

  

 

 

 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: September 11, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Virginia Theatre Janitorial Services Bid  
 
Background 
Janitorial services at the Virginia Theatre are arranged according to the facility’s schedule, with 
post-event cleanings of the auditorium, lobbies, restrooms, and backstage areas taking place 
after live shows, movie screenings, and private events; all at different hours of the day, including 
evenings and weekends. To accommodate the Virgina theatre’s varied schedule of events, 
there is a standing weekly schedule of regular front-of-house services to keep the facility’s 
lobbies, restrooms, and offices in clean, sanitary condition.  
 
Due to the Virginia Theatre’s busy variable event schedule, the Champaign Park District has 
utilized contract cleaning services since 2016 as the most effective, efficient solution to the 
theatre’s cleaning challenges.  
 
On August 14, 2024, the Park District publicly announced a bid for janitorial services at the 
Virginia Theatre. 
 
Prior Board Action 
On September 14, 2022, the Park Board authorized the Executive Director to enter into an 
agreement with RamClean 2 Cleaning Services, Champaign, for a period of one year, from 
September 26, 2022, through September 25, 2023, with the option to renew for one additional 
year, from September 26, 2023, through September 25, 2024.  
 
The Park District executed an amendment—made effective Tuesday, September 26, 2023—to 
the existing agreement with RamClean 2 Cleaning Services to provide janitorial services at the 
Virginia Theatre and authorizing the extension of said agreement from September 26, 2023, to 
September 25, 2024.   
 
Bid Results 
An invitation to bid was published in The News-Gazette and bids were subsequently opened 
and read aloud at the Virginia Theatre on Thursday, August 29, 2024, at 2:00 P.M. (CDT).  
RamClean 2 Cleaning Services, Champaign, IL, was deemed the low, responsible bidder.  
Six (6) bids were received, and the results are as follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

  

 

 
 

BIDDER 
ZONE 1: 
FOH 

ZONE 2: 
AUDITORIUM 

ZONE 3: 
BACKSTAGE  

ALT 1: Carpets  ALT 1: Vents  
ALT 1: 
Furniture 

ALT 1: 
Windows 

ALT 2: 
Other  

FST Properties and 
Management, LLC 

$48.00 / 
Hour 

$48.00 / 
Hour 

$48.00 / Hour $69.00 / Hour 
$45.00 / 
Hour 

$45.00 / 
Hour 

$50.00 / 
Hour 

$50.00 
/ Hour 

ESS Clean, Inc. 
$30.00 / 
Hour 

$48.00 / 
Hour 

$48.00 / Hour $2,275.00 $100.00 $325.00 $250.00 
$48.00 
/ Hour 

Campus General 
Cleaning 

$25.00 / 
Hour 

$30.00 / 
Hour 

$30.00 / Hour $35.00 / Hour 
$30.00 / 
Hour 

$25.00 / 
Hour 

$30.00 / 
Hour 

$30.00 
/ Hour 

RamClean 2 
Cleaning Services 

$25.54 / 
Hour 

$25.54 / 
Hour 

$25.54 / Hour $27.00 / Hour 
$25.54 / 
Hour 

$25.54 / 
Hour 

$25.54 / 
Hour 

$25.54 
/ Hour 

Guardian Gleam 
Team 

$26.14 / 
Hour 

$26.14 / 
Hour 

$26.14 / Hour $27.15 / Hour 
$26.14 / 
Hour 

$26.14 / 
Hour 

$26.14 / 
Hour 

$26.14 
/ Hour 

Smilez Cleaning 
$190.00 / 
Hour 

$190.00 / 
Hour 

$190.00 / Hour $80.00 / Hour 
$40.00 / 
Hour 

$40.00 / 
Hour 

$80.00 / 
Hour 

$80.00 
/ Hour 

 
 
Budget Impact 
The bid provided by RamClean 2 Cleaning Services, has no change from the amounts currently 
being charged to the Champaign Park District. 
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends that the Park Board authorize the Executive Director to execute an 
agreement with the low, responsible bidder, RamClean 2 Cleaning Services, Champaign, to 
provide janitorial services at the Virginia Theater for a term of one (1) year, from Thursday, 
September 26, 2024, to Wednesday, September 24, 2025, with the option to renew for one (1) 
additional year, from Thursday, September 25, 2025, to Thursday, September 24, 2026. 
 
 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
Steven Bentz Sarah Sandquist 
Director, Virginia Theatre Executive Director  



AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 

AND 

RAMCLEAN 2, INC. 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into effective this 11th day of September, 2024, by and 
between Champaign Park District, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as "District"), whose 
principal address is 706 Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois, 61821, and RamClean 2, Inc., a for-profit 
corporation (hereinafter referred to as "RamClean"), whose principal address is 2026B Glenn Park Drive, 
Champaign, Illinois 61821. 

WHEREAS, RamClean operates a Cleaning Service performed on an individual contract basis in 
office buildings, schools, stores, and other locations; 

WHEREAS, District desires to enter into an agreement with RamClean whereby it will supply 
cleaning services at the property commonly known as the Virginia Theatre, located in Champaign, Illinois; 

NOW THEREFORE, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

Section 1 - General Purpose: District and RamClean hereby enter into this Agreement whereby 
RamClean shall provide janitorial services in accordance with the terms and conditions recited in the 
specifications as set forth in Attachment A, entitled "Champaign Park District Virginia Theatre 2024-2025 
Janitorial Services Bid Announcement and Specifications Packet FINAL", and the response attached 
hereto and incorporated herein at the following facility and location: Virginia Theatre, located at 203 West 
Park Avenue, Champaign, Illinois, 61820. 

Section 2 - Term: The term of this Agreement shall be effective for a period of one (1) year, from 
Thursday, September 26, 2024, to Wednesday, September 24, 2025, with the option to renew for one (1) 
additional year, from Thursday, September 25, 2025, to Thursday, September 24, 2026. 

Section 3 - Termination: This Agreement may be terminated by either Party, in whole or in part, without 
showing cause, by giving at least thirty (30) days written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, 
with an additional copy, by regular U.S. mail, addressed to the other Party at the address indicated in 
Section 17 - "Notice". 

In the event of termination of the Agreement, the District shall pay all reasonable costs incurred by 
RamClean up to the date of termination. However, in no event shall RamClean be paid an amount which 
exceeds the price proposed for the work actually performed. 

Section 4 - Work Day/Hours: Hours of cleaning and work days shall be performed in accordance with the 
terms in Attachment A, Section IV.: "Scheduling and Cleaning Specifications". Definitive start times shall be 
determined by RamClean and District. Work schedules and hours may be adjusted, as agreed to by both 
Parties, to best serve the Virginia Theatre. 

Section 5 - Payment: District shall pay RamClean for services rendered in accordance to the proposal 
which is included in Attachment A. RamClean shall submit invoices to the District by the 1st Friday of the 
applicable month. Payment will be made monthly after Park Board of Commissioners approval of bills. 

Section 6 - Price Adjustments: In the event the District reduces the scope of work during the contract 
period, the contract price shall be reduced by a proportional amount as agreed to by the parties acting in 
good faith. 









ATTACHMENT A: Champaign Park District Virginia Theatre 2024-2025 Janitorial 
Services Bid Announcement and Specifications Packet FINAL

REQUEST FOR BIDS 

FOR 

VIRGINIA THEATRE JANITORIAL SERVICES 

The Champaign Park District is requesting bids for janitorial services at the Virginia 
Theatre. Bid specifications are available at the Virginia Theatre, 203 West Park Avenue, 
Champaign, Illinois, 61820, by calling (217) 819-3902, or by emailing 
steven. bentz@champaignparks.org. 

Sealed bids shall be delivered or mailed to the attention of Steven Bentz, Director, at 
Virginia Theatre, 203 West Park Avenue, Champaign, Illinois, 61820, no later than 2:00 P.M. 
(CDT), on Thursday, August 29, 2024, at which time bids will be opened and publicly read 
aloud. Late bids and facsimile copies will not be accepted. 

The Champaign Park District reserves the right to reject any or all bids, waive any or all 
irregularities, and select the bid that is in its best interests. 

All respondents must comply with local, state, and federal laws, and statutory 
requirements pertaining to Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, Illinois Fair Employment Act, and equal 
opportunity regulations. 
































	Agenda -  Regular.9.11.24
	specialminutes.8.14.24 v1
	specialminutes8.28.24 v1
	Memo to Approve Resolution Initiating the 2024 GO Bond Issue
	Resolution Initiating the 2024 GO Bond Issue
	Memo to Approve a Resolution Setting a Public Hearing on Proposed Bond Issue
	Resolution Setting a Public Hearing on Proposed Bond Issue
	Memo - Approval of General Concrete - Sunset Ridge Entry Drive
	I.6 Sunset Ridge Drive Approach Diagram
	Construction Agreement-Sunset Ridge
	Memo - Approval of Bids for Pickleball and Dexter Field Lighting
	Construction Agreement-Lighting Projects 
	Memo - CPD_Virginia_Theatre_Alcohol_Concession_Agreement_Board_Report_9_11_24
	Virginia Theatre Alcohol Concession Agreement _Final
	Binder1.pdf
	2024_2025_FARRENS_VIRGINIA_THEATRE_ALCOHOLIC_BEVERAGE_SERVICE_AGREEMENT_September_11_2024_Signed_by_Farrens.pdf
	Cover_Letter
	FARRENS_CHAMPAIGN_PARK_DISTRICT_REQUEST_FOR_PROPOSALS_Virginia_Theatre_Alcoholic_Beverages_Service_2024_2025

	Virginia Theater Menu 2023 2024

	Memo - Virginia_Theatre_FY25_Janitorial_Services
	RAMCLEAN_2024_2025_Virginia_Theatre_Janitorial_Services_Agreement_Final
	RAMCLEAN_2024_2025_Virginia_Theatre_Janitorial_Services_Agreement_Signed_by_RamClean.pdf
	RAMCLEAN_2_Champaign_Park_District_Virginia_Theatre_2024_2025_Janitorial_Services_Bid




